

Norwegian University of Life Sciences

Master's Thesis 2019 60 ECTS Faculty of Environmental Sciences and Natural Resource Management

# Effects of long-term experimental warming on alpine bryophytes: trends in functional traits

Oda Sofie Dahle Master of Science in Ecology

## Preface

This is the final product of my Master of Science in Ecology at the Norwegian University of Life Sciences (NMBU). I had the privilege to work in scenic surroundings at Sanddalsnuten, Finse. I wish to thank my patient, experienced and kind supervisors for always making time for guidance. Particularly a huge thank you to my main supervisor Johan Asplund for all the time, feedback and patient guidance. I also want to thank my co-supervisors Kari Klanderud for invaluable feedback and comments, and Kristel van Zuijlen for advice with R-programming and help in the field with species identification. I also wish to thank Marte Olsen for help with identification of species, and to the friendly hosts at Finse Alpine Research Center for comfortable accommodation during the field work. I want to thank Nathan H. Phinney for valuable conversations along the way and comments in the final phases of writing. My parents have given enthusiastic support, especially helping me push through the hard parts. Lastly, thank you to my fellow student collaborator Snorre Sundsbø for great teamwork and valuable conversations.



Norwegian University of Life Sciences

Ås, May 14th, 2019

Oda Sofie Dahle

## Abstract

Functional traits are becoming increasingly important tools to evaluate plant community response to climate change. Artificial warming treatments can shift community-level trait values as a consequence of intraspecific variation, species turnover and their covariation. These warming studies on vascular plants suggest that the shift is mostly caused by species turnover, while studies on lichens suggest that much of the shift in traits is explained by intraspecific variation. There is limited knowledge about how bryophytes respond under simulated warming and to what degree the response is a consequence of intraspecific variation. In contrast to vascular plants, they should respond strongly to their external environment, as they lack the physiological structures to maintain homeostasis. In order to evaluate the significance of intraspecific variation and species turnover for bryophytes, I assessed bryophyte cover and measured the functional traits: carbon concentration (C), nitrogen concentration (N), water holding capacity (WHC), shoot length, biomass, area and some of their ratios in warmed plots simulating climate change and control plots at Sanddalsnuten, Finse.

I found some support for my first hypothesis; shorter, lower biomass shoots with lower WHC in the warmed plots suggests higher competition from vascular plants in the warmed plots. My second hypothesis that most of the explained variation seen between plots would be accounted for by species turnover, was mostly supported. I found the growth form of the warmed bryophytes to shift towards growth forms associated with the lowland, giving support for my last hypothesis. My work in this thesis underline the importance of including the trait variation of non-vascular primary producers like bryophytes when predicting future environmental changes. To get a more complete picture environment change as a consequence of climate change phenomena, inclusion of species turnover as well as the within-species variation are paramount.

# Table of Contents

Preface1
Abstract 2
Introduction 4
Methods7
Study area7
Study design of the OTC-experiment
Bryophyte cover estimates
Water holding capacity (WHC) 10
Trait selection
Photograph analysis 12
C and N content
Trait by dominant species analysis
Life history traits
Statistics
Results
Community weighted means of traits
Trait by species analysis
Life history trait analysis
Discussion
The significance of intraspecific variation
Shifts in functional traits with warming 21
Conclusion
References
Appendix 32

## Introduction

A functional trait is a well-defined measurable characteristic of an organism that strongly influences its performance (McGill et al., 2006). These traits allow for easier generalization, as opposed to when individual species are used. Trait-based approaches are already helping us answer questions about community structure (Hudson & Henry, 2010; Keddy, 1992), climate change effects (Chapin, 2003; Sundqvist et al., 2011), how ecosystem services work (Lavorel, 2013), food production (Wood et al., 2015) and restoration ecology (Funk et al., 2008). The move from a species-based approach to a traitbased one has already been made to a large degree for vascular plants, but to a small degree for non-vascular primary producers. However, its slowly becoming more popular for groups like bryophytes (e.g. Cornelissen et al., 2007; Jägerbrand et al., 2003; Lang et al., 2012).

Common species contribute more to ecosystem functioning compared to the rarer species (Grime, 1998). Therefore, community-weighted means (CWM) are often used when it is necessary to prescribe a single trait value to a trait in a community. These values allow for easy comparisons between traits in contrasting ecosystems, or between different experimental treatments. For example, by analyzing the CWM of plant leaf and litter traits along an elevational gradient, Sundqvist et al (2011) found a significant relationship with elevation. Using CWMs, researchers have shown that available nutrients decrease with elevation (Huber et al., 2007), prompting a shift in CWM values towards those associated with resource conservation in vascular plants (Read et al., 2014; Sundqvist et al., 2013). A shift in CWM values can usually be explained by a combination of species turnover, intraspecific variation and their covariation (Lepš et al., 2011). Disentangling these elements is essential for predicting the impact on ecosystems. Failing to include intraspecific trait variability may underestimate community response (Lepš et al., 2011). There is limited knowledge about how some primary-producer groups like bryophytes respond, and to what degree the response is a consequence of intraspecific variation.

Alpine and arctic environments are some of the first to respond to climate warming phenomena (Theurillat & Guisan, 2001). Even minute temperature fluctuations in these environments can cause notable shifts in biodiversity and species composition (Sala et al., 2000). Bryophytes are among the most abundant primary producers in alpine ecosystems and can reach up to 100% cover in wetter and more protected areas (see figure 1) (Belnap & Lange, 2001; Russell, 2008; Wielgolaski & Kjelvik S, 1975). Alpine bryophytes are recognized as vital species that affect biogeochemistry (Cornelissen et al., 2007) by providing a major N

input by hosting N-fixing bacteria (During & Tooren, 2008) and playing a role in carbon and nutrient cycling (Belnap & Lange, 2001; Deyn et al., 2008; Longton, 1988; Smith, 1982). Bryophytes can either facilitate the establishment and growth of other plant species (Press et al., 1998) or impede their survival by competitive exclusion (Chernov, 1988). Additionally, they are food sources for arthropods and lemmings (Cornelissen et al., 2007; Soininen et al., 2013). These essential roles may change due to rapid changes as a consequence of global warming (e.g. Cornelissen et al., 2007; Hågvar & Klanderud, 2009; Lang et al., 2012), as one of the most severe responses to shifts in ecological communities occur when ecosystem processes change (Chapin, 2003).

Graminoids, shrubs and lowland species are becoming more frequent, while bryophytes and lichens are declining in warming alpine environments (Elmendorf et al., 2012a; Elmendorf et al., 2012b; Klanderud & Birks, 2003; Walker et al., 2006). This is consistent with paleoecological findings that describe temperature and vegetation fluctuations similar to the ones we are seeing today (Hu et al., 2002). Herb dominated tundra was overtaken by shrubs and evidence suggested transition to a more productive system (Hu et al., 2002). There are however notable exceptions to this pattern, where some organisms resist long-term warming (Grime et al., 2008; Hudson & Henry, 2010; Lamb et al., 2011; Van Wijk et al., 2004).



Figure 1: An example of how bryophytes can dominate the tundra vegetation. Pictures are from Finse. (Hoy, 2016)

Like vascular plants, bryophytes are migrating upwards in elevation when the climate gets warmer (Bergamini et al., 2009). Vascular plants have been shown to partially out-compete bryophytes under experimental warming treatments (e.g. Elmendorf et al., 2012a; Jägerbrand et al., 2003). Bryophytes have also been shown to respond strongly to simulated warming (Elmendorf et al., 2012b; Klanderud & Totland, 2005), which translates to a more stressful environment for the bryophytes (Furness & Grime, 1982; Jägerbrand et al., 2003). After a warming treatment, the bryophyte species in the Furness & Grime (1982) experiment had a lower growth rate and lower shoot length than control. This is despite moving closer to bryophytes temperature optima (Furness & Grime, 1982; Proctor, 1982). This indicates that increased temperature did not cause the stunted growth of the bryophytes. Interactions with vascular plants in the form of competition may be the most important challenge for bryophytes exposed to warming (Jägerbrand et al., 2003). In cold environments, bryophytes have been shown to change the frequency and manner of reproduction by, for instance, altering sporophyte frequency (Casanova-Katny et al., 2016). This was thought to be solely an effect of adaption, but it may in part be caused by competition with vascular plants. The growth form itself has also been shown to change with abiotic factors alone (Sandvik & Heegaard, 2003). Under changes in snowmelt and moisture patterns, one bryophyte species changed growth form with simulated climate warming (Sandvik & Heegaard, 2003). Little is currently known about how bryophyte growth form and life-history traits varies with changes in the environment.

There is limited knowledge about how bryophytes respond under simulated warming and to what degree the response is a consequence of intraspecific variation. In contrast to vascular plants, they should respond strongly to their external environment, as they lack the physiological structures to maintain homeostasis (Proctor, 1982). Studies on vascular plants suggest that community-level shift in traits is mostly caused by species turnover (Kichenin et al., 2013; Lepš et al., 2011; Siefert et al., 2015), while in lichens, much of the shift in traits can be explained by intraspecific variation (Asplund & Wardle, 2014). Less is known about bryophytes, but they have been shown to respond to a warming treatment with within-species variation (Jägerbrand et al., 2003).

With this thesis, I aim to investigate the relative importance of intraspecific variation and species turnover as drivers of community-level functional trait change through an experimental setup using open top chambers (OTCs). I looked at how the functional traits of an alpine bryophyte community is affected by a long-term warming treatment. I recorded the bryophyte species composition in experimentally warmed plots and in control plots with ambient temperature. In addition, I sampled the dominating species in each plot and measured several functional traits (i.e. water holding capacity (WHC) and C content). From these measurements I calculated community weighted means. I used this experimental set-up to test the

6

following hypothesis: (I) With warming there is a shift in bryophyte functional traits towards those associated with higher competition with vascular plants. (II) Interspecific variability will account for most of the explained variation between plots. (III) There is a change towards life-history traits associated with more effective reproduction with warming and a change in growth form (as seen in (Casanova-Katny et al., 2016)).

## Methods

## Study area

The study area is at Finse in Ulvik municipality located in Hordaland county. The site is on a calcareous alpine ridge called Sanddalsnuten (60° 36' 59.0" N, 7° 31' 31.6" E). Sanddalsnuten is at an altitude of 1545 meters above sea level with total precipitation from September last year to September this year at 688.1mm(*Annual Weather Averages in Finse*, 2018). Temperature and precipitation information is from the closest climate station which is located approximately 2 kilometers away. Sanddalsnuten, is in Hallingskarvet National Park and it's registered as a nature type described as a "calcareous alpine area" and is a *Dryas* heath. (Miljødirektoratet, 2005; Miljødirektoratet, 2006).

## Study design of the OTC-experiment

OTCs are a widely used and effective form of manipulative experiment (figure 2). The main effects of the chambers are to increase inside air temperature by approximately 1.5°C, the soil temperature with 1°C and reduce the effect of wind. Some side effects may include change in some of the snowmelt patterns, change in soil conditions and possibly change in air humidity (Marion et al., 1997). They can be used in quite inaccessible locations, which makes them a widely used tool for climate effects research. The OTC site in this study is also a part of a larger international research network called ITEX (International Tundra Experiment). The OTCs at Sanddalsnuten have been on location since 2000 (figure 3). They were going on the 18<sup>th</sup> year when the study was conducted. For my study I used 10 plots in OTCs and 10 control plots located close to the OTCs.



Figure 2: OTC of ITEX (International Tundra Experiment) design. The chambers passively warm the vegetation inside and reduces temperature extremes. Illustration by N. H. Phinney.



Figure 3: Open-top chambers in the field at the study site Sanddalsnuten, Finse.

## Bryophyte cover estimates

The species I worked on are a group of mosses and one particularly abundant species of liverwort. Some groups of bryophytes are particularly species-rich and challenging to identify. For practical reasons, some of the species were only determined to genus. These genus groups were: *Dicranum, Polytruchum, Hypnum, Dicranella, Tortella, Racomitrium, Bryum* and *Pohlia*.

To estimate species-cover, we used a  $60 \times 30$ cm metal frame divided with wire into 18  $10 \times 10$  cm squares (figure 4). Each plot was split into two parts, each the size of one frame. The frame was therefore used twice in each plot. I estimated cover individually for the small squares in the field and later calculated the total cover. I measured functional traits on samples taken from the most dominating species in each plot (which together made up at least 80% of the biomass per plot). I then separated out approximately 10 living shoots per sample and proceeded to analyze functional traits.



Figure 4: The metal frame that was used in the cover estimates

## Water holding capacity (WHC)

WHC was measured for each species for each plot. I used a method described by Zuijlen where she used a combination of other protocols (Zuijlen, 2018b). For each species per plot, 10 living shoots (including the brown and green part) were separated out. These were put in a Petri dish and submerged in demineralized water for 30 minutes (figure 5). They were then incubated in new Petri dishes with a moistened filter paper for 24 hours. The lid was sealed with parafilm to prevent evaporation. After the incubation, the shoots were blotted dry on tissue paper and water saturated mass was recorded (Sartorius Extend EDS2245 (std.  $\pm 0.1$ mg)). The shoots were then air-dried for at least 24 h and weighed again. To control for variations in air moisture, I made 5 weighed control samples that were made up from approximately 15 shoots of different moss species. These were weighed every time I would weight air-dried samples. After all the air-dried samples were weighed, I oven-dried the weight control samples at 70°C for 24 h and

weighed them again. From this I calculated a conversion factor for air-dried mass to oven-dried mass. WHC expressed in  $g g^{-1}$  was calculated as:

$$WHC = \frac{(wet mass - dry mass)}{dry mass}$$



Figure 5: In the process of measuring water holding capacity (WHC). Sampled shoots in the process of soaking before 24h incubation and weighing.

## Trait selection

I selected the traits for this thesis based on what was easy to measure and often found in other studies (e.g. Asplund & Wardle, 2014; Sundqvist et al., 2011; Zuijlen, 2018a). These traits are important for the cycling of N and C (Pérez-Harguindeguy et al., 2013). The traits I chose were C and N concentrations and the ratio between them, water holding capacity (WHC), shoot length, biomass and the ratio between shoot length and biomass.

I also looked at some life history traits which have been shown to change with the environment of the bryophyte eg. (Mcletchie & Stark, 2006; Proctor et al., 2007; Sandvik & Heegaard, 2003). I chose the life history traits based on what was available on the Bryoatt (Hill et al., 2007) database, and what is commonly used in other studies (e.g. Sandvik & Heegaard, 2003).

## Photograph analysis

The 10 shoots from the WHC measurements were used in this procedure. The brown part of the shoot was removed with a scalpel before a picture was taken. "The brown part" was consequently defined as the brown part of the longest branch. If this brown part had branches which were green further up, these were also cut away. The green part was places on a projector and photographed with a Nikon D5500 in combination with a Sigma 105mm f2.8 DG macro HSM lens at maximum jpeg resolution (300 dpi) (figure 6). A millimeter paper for scale and sample ID were placed in each photograph. Shoot area was estimated from the photographs, using the software ImageJ (Rueden et al., 2017).



Figure 6: One of the pictures used in analyzing shoot length

#### C and N content

The samples were ground to a powder in a ball mill (model MM400, Retsch Gmbh & Co, Haan, Germany). Carbon and nitrogen concentration were analyzed from approximately 5 mg sub-samples of the ground powder on a Vario MICRO cube (Elementar Analysensysteme GmbH, Hanau, Germany). Some of my samples were too small, which gave me no measurement. In these cases, I used the average trait value of the species.

#### Trait by dominant species analysis

I wanted to investigate whether any of the dominant species played a larger part in any of the measured traits. I chose species that appeared in at least 4 warmed and 4 control plots. The species were *Dicranum spp.*, *Distichium capillaceum*, *Polytrichum spp*. and *Ptilidium ciliare*.

#### Life history traits

I used the life history trait database Bryoatt (Hill et al., 2007) to make my dataset. The database is for British and Irish bryophytes with Information on Native Status, Size, Life Form, Life History, Geography and Habitat. Norwegian and British habitats are comparable enough that many of the same species thrive in both regions. I chose to look at the life history traits spore size, growth form and sporophyte frequency. As I only recorded genus for some species, I had to decide on one value for every trait. I did this by using the most common trait in the species that were likely to occur in the region I worked in. I used the species distribution maps from Nationalnyckeln (Hallingbäck et al., 2006; Hallingbäck, 2008) when writing up an approximate species list.

#### Statistics

The values of the measured traits were weighted by their relative abundance per plot. From this, a community-weighted mean was calculated by weighting each trait value by its relative abundance (Garnier et al., 2004).

$$trait_{weighted} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i \times trait_i$$

 $p_i$  is the relative cover of species *i* as a part of the total cover of all bryophyte species. *Trait<sub>i</sub>* is the trait value for species *i*. It's possible to calculate the fixed mean, the specific mean and the intraspecific variation from this equation (Lepš et al., 2011). The community-fixed mean value is the average sum of a trait value for a single species, weighted by its relative abundance. The specific mean is the sum of the measured trait value per plot per species, weighted by relative abundance. The value for intraspecific species variation can be disentangled from these two values by finding the difference between the specific mean and the fixed mean. This is done by subtracting specific mean value from the fixed mean value. Any measured change in the specific mean value of a trait must be due to species turnover. Any measured change in specific mean trait value can either be due to species turnover or due to intraspecific variation. Intraspecific variation occurs, when fixed and specific trait means differ:

#### *Intraspecific variation = specific mean - fixed mean*

Building on these assumptions, I performed three separate analyses of variance (ANOVAs) on each response variable to evaluate the potential difference between bryophytes in the warmed plots and in the control plots. ANOVA analysis requires the data to be normally distributed, have independent observations and homogeneous variance. These requirements are all met in my data.

The ANOVA analysis on traits was executed using the R function traitflex.anova, which is a part of the package "cati" from CRAN R project (Taudiere & Violle, 2016). The traitflex.anova function contains a script for disentangling the different kinds of community-weighted means as described above. It carries out three parallel one-way ANOVA analysis per trait, teasing apart the tree different community responses. The community parameters were the response variable and the treatment along with the effect of "pairs" were the explanatory variables. One control and one warmed plot were designated into pairs based on similar environmental conditions in the plots. This was done to eliminate noise in the data.

The ANOVA analysis method gives a value called sum of squares (SS). The SS is made up of the sum of squared residual differences from the total mean, divided by n-1. These ANOVA analysis were executed for all traits; WHC, C, N, C:N, shoot length, area, biomass, biomass to shoot length ratio and area to biomass ratio. I also conducted ANOVA analysis for the life history traits, where I used the lifte history traits as the dependant variables and the treatment

I wanted to further explore which species significantly affected either trait. I performed another set of ANOVA analysis, one for each species, for four of the most common species for all traits. These were namely the species *Dicranum spp.*, *D. capillaceum*, *Polytrichum spp.* and *P.ciliare*. I selected only species that were present in both warmed and control plots.

## Results

## Community weighted means of traits

I found that tissue C concentration and shoot biomass decreased, while shoot length:biomass increased with warming at the whole community level (Table 1). The communities in the warming treatment were dominated by shorter species with lower WHC compared with the control plots, but this effect was not significant when I accounted for differences within species. The negative change in C concentration with warming could not be explained by a change in species composition (Figure 7). There are not more species that generally have a lower C concentration. Instead, the shift in C concentration largely reflect intraspecific variation. Except for C content, the shift in traits caused by warming was almost completely explained by species turnover. Species turnover is represented by fixed trait values which is the mean of all measurements for that individual species. Changes in fixed trait values thereby reflect a change in species composition. Intraspecific variation on the other hand reflects a change within an individual species itself.

	F- and P-value for species turnover only	F-value for species turnover and intraspecific variability	F-value for intraspecific variability alone
WHC	6.63 (0.030)	4.03 (0.076).	0.60 (0.459)
Length/biomass	4.37 (0.066) .	6.01 (0.036)	0.41 (0.537)
Ν	2.54 (0.146)	1.13 (0.315)	0.35 (0.568)
C:N	3.04 (0.115)	0.94 (0.357)	0.23 (0.647)
С	0.21 (0.661)	5.81 (0.039)	8.93 (0.015)
Area/biomass	2.70 (0.135)	3.71 (0.086).	0.23 (0.645)
Length	9.50 (0.013)	2.00 (0.191)	0.05 (0.834)
Biomass	9.67 (0.012)	7.42 (0.023)	0.01 (0.936)

Table 1: ANOVA tests comparing the warming treatment to control. Significant results are bold. *P-value is given in parenthesis. All calculations have one degree of freedom.* 



Figure 7: Community weighted mean (CWM) for A: water holding capacity, B: length/biomass ratio, C: C content, D: shoot length and E: biomass. Error bars indicate 95% confidence interval. Where the lines indicating CWM turnover and CWM total diverge, it is an indication of intraspecific variation.

The explained variation in shoot length and biomass, area : biomass ratio, length : biomass ratio and WHC were mostly explained by species turnover (Figure 8). Of these, the effect was significant for WHC, shoot length and biomass. Carbon concentration was largely explained by intraspecific variation. Variation in C:N ratio and N concentration were not significantly explained by species turnover or intraspecific variation, as the black bars were always to the right of the grey and white boxes.



Figure 8: Grey indicates species turnover, white indicated intraspecific variation and the black bars indicate total variation. Asterixis indicate significance, red asterisk indicate significance in intraspecific variation, black asterisk indicates species turnover.



*Figure 9: Boxplots for A) C concentration, B) water holding capacity, C) N concentration, D) shoot length and E) shoot biomass of individual bryophyte species in control(blue) and warmed plots(red).* 

	Dicranum spp.	D. capillaceum	Polytrichum spp.	P. ciliare
C concentration	0.0 (0.970)	2.9 (0.132)	0.9 (0.373)	2.5 (0.149)
N concentration	4.0 (0.060).	7.0 (0.033)	2.9 (0.133)	1.1 (0.333)
Shoot length	0.7 (0.400)	0.4 (0.541)	1.0 (0.359)	0.1 (0.770)
Shoot biomass	1.9 (0.185)	0.1 (0.772)	0.9 (0.375)	3.6 (0.105)
WHC	1.4 (0.254)	5.2 (0.056) .	0.0 (0.884)	0.3 (579)

Table 2: ANOVA analysis comparing the trait-responses of four common species to the warming treatment. Values are F-values with P-values in parenthesis. Significant results are bold. Borderline (below 0.1) results are indicated by a full-stop.

## Trait by species analysis

*D. capillaceum* had a 33% lower N concentration in warmed plots (figure 9). The rest of the species were non-significantly different. However, two species were borderline significant. D. capillaceum almost had a 41% lower WHC in warmed plots, and *Dicranum* spp. almost had a 21% higher N concentration in warmed plots (Table 2).

## Life history trait analysis

None of the life history traits I looked at had been significantly changed by the warming treatment. Weft growing mosses were found slightly more often in the warmed chambers. Sporophyte presence was almost significant with an increase in sporophytes with the warming treatment, when excluding the effect of plot pair in the ANOVA model.

Table 3: Results from ANOVA analysis with one degree of freedom(df) of the effect of warming with the effect of pairs as error on life history traits. Borderline value (p-value between 0.05 and 0.1) indicated with a full-stop.

Trait	<b>F-value</b>	P-value
Turf	0.17	0.689
Tuft	0.84	0.384
Weft	3.89	0.080 .
Cushion	1.00	0.341
Mat rough	0.08	0.784
Mat smooth	2.12	0.180
Minimum spore size	1.91	0.199
Maximum spore size	2.19	0.173
Sporophyte presence	2.34	0.161

## Discussion

I found shorter and lighter bryophytes with a lower WHC and C content in warmed plots, giving support for my first hypothesis that there is a shift in bryophyte traits towards those associated with higher competition with vascular plants in the warmed plots. The OTCs are in some ways simulating lowland conditions by being warmer, more sheltered and containing more plants characteristic of lowland flora. Community-level WHC of bryophytes has been shown to drop with increasing elevation, which would give the expectation of seeing higher WHC inside the warmed plots (Roos et al., *In review*). This is not in line with my findings, suggesting interference from competition with vascular plants. Intraspecific variation accounted for almost all the explained variation in C concentration between warmed and control plots. Stunted growth, dry, low-light conditions may have caused lower photosynthetic rates and lower C concentration. The explained variation in the other traits were almost entirely accounted for by species turnover. This gives support for my second hypothesis that interspecific variability will account for most of the explained variation between plots. These results are in line with some recent studies on the relative importance of interspecific variation and intraspecific variation in vascular plants (Kazakou et al., 2014; Kichenin et al., 2013; Lepš et al., 2011; Siefert et al., 2015). I discovered that the growth form of the bryophytes exposed to the warming treatment is more often weft growth form. I also found a trend towards more frequent sporophyte production in the warmed plots, giving partial support for my

hypothesis that that life-history traits would shift towards those associated with lowland growth forms and more effective reproduction (Casanova-Katny et al., 2016; Mägdefrau, 1982). I will further discuss my findings and some broader implications.

## The significance of intraspecific variation

I found the explained variation between warmed and control plots to be mostly a consequence of species turnover, not intraspecific variation. The explained variation in N concentration was partially explained by intraspecific variation. However, only species turnover came out as significant for N concentration. Vascular plants and lichens display higher intraspecific variation in N concentration than what I found in this thesis (Asplund & Wardle, 2014; Siefert et al., 2015). This was unexpected, as bryophytes, unlike vascular plants, are mostly dependent on their local environment for nutrient availability (Chapin et al., 1990; Siefert et al., 2015). Carbon concentration was the only trait largely explained by intraspecific variation. Ferns show the opposite trend in an elevational gradient (Wegner et al., 2003), which may indicate stunted growth as a consequence of increased competition with vascular plants.

#### Shifts in functional traits with warming

I found a decreased shoot length and a lower biomass in the warmed plots. This is in line with my hypothesis that I expected to find traits that are associated with adaption to a higher competition environment. I think these traits are associated with higher competition, because the already small-statured, low biomass alpine version of these bryophyte species become even shorter and less massive with the warming treatment. Decreased shoot length and lower biomass as a result of warming are patterns sometimes seen in similar studies to mine (e.g. Jägerbrand et al., 2003). Vascular plants also become shorter with increasing elevation, possibly in response to increasing stress with increasing elevation (Körner, 2003; Sundqvist et al., 2013). The stress from increasing elevation may come from an increase in radiation, rougher weather conditions and colder temperatures.

In the warmed plots I found a shift towards weft-growing bryophytes driven by species turnover. Examples of species with this growth form are *P. schreberi*, *H. splendens* and *T. tamariscinum* (the latter not found in my plots) (figure 10). The warmed plots had taller vegetation and more litter, and by proxy also more shadow (Sundsbø, 2019). Weft-growing bryophytes are often more shadow-tolerant and they are therefore more associated with the lowland and more shadowy habitats (Mägdefrau, 1982). This is consistent with how lowland vegetation is creeping upwards as temperature rises (Elmendorf et al., 2012a; Elmendorf et al., 2012b). With weft-growing bryophytes being better adapted to shadowy habitats, their increase may be due to an increase in shadow from the taller vegetation and the increase in litter. Thus, they seem to out-compete the more light-dependant bryophytes.



Figure 10: Thuidium tamariscinum as an example of a weft-growing moss.

I found a significantly lower C concentration in the bryophytes exposed to the warming treatment. With warming, vegetation becomes taller, the shrub canopy denser and their litter increases (Sundsbø, 2019; Walker, 2000; Walker et al., 2005). It is possible that the taller vascular plants compete more efficiently for sunlight and moisture compared to bryophytes. This would explain the lower carbon concentration as a symptom of lower photosynthetic rates. This is in line with my hypothesis that the warmed bryophytes move towards traits associated with adaption to higher competition. I assume this because the bryophytes in the control plots are exposed to lower stress levels than in the drier, high-competition OTC plots

(Elmendorf et al., 2012b; Sundsbø, 2019). I see two possible explanations for the drop in C concentration; it could be due to a higher growth rate and unchanged or lower C fixation rate, subsequently diluting the C molecules in the shoots. This would mean tall/regular shoot length with low C concentration compared to control plots. The other explanation could be retarded growth rate and a lower C fixation rate. This would mean shorter, lighter shoots with lower C concentration. The last explanation for low C concentration fits my findings that shoots become shorter, lighter and have a lower C concentration (figure 11). I assume the abiotic factors in the OTCs to favor bryophyte growth, especially with increasing moisture. I make this assumption, because many of my species have a higher temperature optimum than control plots and would benefit from temperature increase (Proctor, 1982). When looking at the whole picture including competition from vascular plants, I found that growth becomes stunted, probably because of increased competition with vascular plants (Lang et al., 2012). Ferns show a drop in C concentration with increasing elevation (Wegner et al., 2003). Bryophytes and ferns show the opposite trend, which may be in support of my hypothesis that bryophytes are stunted by an increase in competition with vascular plants. Lower carbon gain in S. uncinate (a species also present in my research plots) was found in an experiment measuring how photosynthesis was affected by increased temperature (Nakatsubo, 2002). This also lends supports to my hypothesis.



Figure 11: Illustration of two possible explanations for low C concentration in bryophyte shoots after warming treatment. Top: Bryophyte stretches for light, producing tall shoots but diluting the C concentration. Bottom: Bryophyte experiences growth restrictions and produces short, light shoots with low C concentration. The latter fits my data better. Black indicates high C concentration.

I found WHC to be lower in the bryophytes in the warmed plots. That could either be a consequence of stress or it could be a result of adaption. Depending on whether it is an adaption or a maldevelopment, it may or may not be in line with my hypothesis. The opposite response pattern was found in a water economy experiment looking at bryophyte traits associated with water conservation (Henriques et al., 2017). The traits associated with water conservation decreased with increasing elevation. They also found precipitation to increase with increasing elevation, as is analogous to my warmed plots being drier than the control plots. Lower evapotranspiration due to low temperature with increasing elevation is likely the mechanism behind the decrease in WHC with increasing elevation. Their results contrast my findings that WHC drops with the warming treatment, while moisture availability apparently follows the same pattern. I think that the bryophytes in my study experienced stressful conditions and were not able to develop

properly, thus malfunctioning in holding water per individual shoot. Some studies also concluded along the lines of moisture being important to community composition and the direction of trait change in bryophytes (Furness & Grime, 1982; Hudson & Henry, 2010; Sandvik & Heegaard, 2003). In the following study, wet sites where the water loving genus *Sphagnum* was present, bryophytes increased in cover with a warming treatment (Lang et al., 2012). This may indicate at least a partial dependence on moisture availability and may be explained further by species specific ecology. The reason for bryophytes being strongly affected by the presence of water may be due to their poikilohydric nature where unlike vascular plants, they are able to desiccate completely (Tuba et al., 2011).

An experiment looking at water conservation in mixed and single species bryophyte cushions found that mixed species cushions dried out slower with a non-additive effect (Michel et al., 2012). The species in the cushion were even able work together and adapt to form more coherent and denser cushions to conserve water more efficiently than single shoots. In my plots, species richness went up with the warming treatment when taking moisture into account (Sundsbø, 2019). Even though there are more species in the warmed plots, they may not be able to form healthy well-developed cushions in the warmed plots as they do in the control plots (personal observation). I suspect bryophyte water availability is heavily dependent on the micro-climate of its cushion, the water holding capacity of individual shoots, local soil moisture, cover of other bryophyte species and precipitation. This may obstruct their ability to hold water on a community scale. Cushions are important for water economy in lichens (N. H. Phinney 2019, personal communication, 19<sup>th</sup> of April) and they are probably very important for bryophytes too. I did not test WHC on a cushion level, but future researchers may want to look closer at intraspecific variation in water economics in cushion-forming bryophytes, as opposed to only in isolated shoots.

I did not find significant support for my hypothesis of altered reproductive patterns in bryophytes with the warming treatment. However, when I excluded the effect of plot pairs in the ANOVA analysis, sporophyte presence was borderline significantly affected by the warming treatment. Species with a higher frequency of sporophyte presence were found more often in the warmed plots, when ignoring the effect of plot pairs. In a study looking at within-species variation in sporophyte presence, they found that species produced more frequent and larger sporophytes than the control (Casanova-Katny et al., 2016). They concluded that the altered patterns of reproduction were caused by environmental restriction rather than it being an adaption. I did not investigate the possible within-species variation of sporophyte presence, but it would have been interesting to look at. In bryophytes, sporophytes are more sensitive to drought than the gametophyte (Proctor et al., 2007). Either because the sporophyte has an inherently lower heat tolerance

25

or because stress in the gametophyte effects sporophyte vitality. (Mcletchie & Stark, 2006) All the sporophytes may die if exposed to enough drought cycles while the gametophytes persist. Sporophyte presence depends on among other factors, how often drought cycles occur. The warmed plots were somewhat drier and warmer, but it seems they were not dry and warm enough to discourage the presence of species that usually have higher sporophyte production. However, if the trend that Casanova-Katny (2016) found is also true for my plots, it means that warmed plots will have more sporophytes than control plots for two reasons. Intraspecific variation causes a shift towards larger and more frequent sporophytes, and there is a species-turnover towards species that on average produce sporophytes. Altered reproductive patterns in bryophytes may have large consequences on a large scale, effecting both genetics and dispersal patterns (Casanova-Katny et al., 2016).

## Conclusion

My findings in this thesis underline that the contribution of intraspecific contra species turnover to community-level changes differs greatly from that vascular plants and lichens. Most of the research in functional traits on primary producers has revolved around vascular plants, while other ecologically essential primary producers like bryophytes have been left out, despite producing different responses to the same environmental stimuli. Bryophytes are one of the largest primary producers in high elevation, high latitude environments, and in these narrow niches they are some of the first to respond to consequences of global warming like temperature increase and increased competition with vascular plants and their litter (Jägerbrand et al., 2003; Lang et al., 2012). When predicting how future environmental changes will affect ecosystem processes, traits of important primary producers like bryophytes and their within-species variation must be taken into account where they are abundant.

## References

- Annual Weather Averages in Finse. (2018). <u>www.timeanddate.com</u>. Available at: <u>https://www.timeanddate.com/weather/norway/finse/climate</u> (accessed: 13/11/18).
- Asplund, J. & Wardle, D. A. (2014). Within-species variability is the main driver of community-level responses of traits of epiphytes across a long-term chronosequence. *Functional Ecology*, 28 (6): 1513-1522.
- Belnap, J. & Lange, O. (2001). Biological soil crusts: structure, function, and management. Ecological studies, vol. 150. Springer-Verlag.
- Bergamini, A., Ungricht, S. & Hofmann, H. (2009). An elevational shift of cryophilous bryophytes in the last century—an effect of climate warming? *Diversity and Distributions*, 15 (5): 871-879.
- Casanova-Katny, A., Torres-Mellado, G. A. & M. Eppley, S. (2016). *Reproductive output of mosses under experimental warming on Fildes Peninsula, King George Island, maritime Antarctica*, vol. 89.
- Chapin, F. S., Schulze, E. D. & A., M. H. (1990). The Ecology and Economics of Storage in Plants. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 21 (1): 423-447. doi: 10.1146/annurev.es.21.110190.002231.
- Chapin, F. S. (2003). Effects of Plant Traits on Ecosystem and Regional Processes: a Conceptual Framework for Predicting the Consequences of Global Change. *Annals of Botany*, 91.
- Chernov, Y. I. (1988). The living tundra: CUP Archive.
- Cornelissen, J. H. C., Lang, S. I., Soudzilovskaia, N. A. & During, H. J. (2007). Comparative cryptogam ecology: a review of bryophyte and lichen traits that drive biogeochemistry. *Annals of botany*, 99 (5): 987-1001.
- Deyn, G. D., Cornelissen, J. H. C. & Bardgett, R. (2008). Plant functional traits and soil carbon sequestrationin contrasting biomes. *Ecology Letters*, 11: 516-531.
- During, H. & Tooren, B. V. (2008). Bryophyte interactions with other plants. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*.
- Elmendorf, S. C., Henry, G. H., Hollister, R. D., Björk, R. G., Boulanger-Lapointe, N., Cooper, E. J., Cornelissen, J. H. C., Day, T. A., Dorrepaal, E. & Elumeeva, T. G. (2012a). Plot-scale evidence of tundra vegetation change and links to recent summer warming. *Nature Climate Change*, 2 (6): 453.
- Elmendorf, S. C., Henry, G. H. R., Hollister, R. D., Björk, R. G., Bjorkman, A. D., Callaghan, T. V., Collier, L. S., Cooper, E. J., Cornelissen, J. H. C., Day, T. A., et al. (2012b). Global assessment of experimental climate warming on tundra vegetation: heterogeneity over space and time. *Ecology Letters*, 15 (2): 164-175. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01716.x.
- Funk, J. L., Cleland, E. E., Suding, K. N. & Zavaleta, E. S. (2008). Restoration through reassembly: plant traits and invasion resistance. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 23 (12): 695-703. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2008.07.013</u>.
- Furness, S. & Grime, J. (1982). Growth rate and temperature responses in bryophytes: II. A comparative study of species of contrasted ecology. *The Journal of Ecology*: 525-536.

- Garnier, E., Cortez, J., Billès, G., Navas, M. L., Roumet, C., Debussche, M., Laurent, G., Blanchard, A., Aubry, D., Bellmann, A., et al. (2004). Plant functional markers capture ecosystem properties during secondary succession. *Ecology*, 85 (9): 2630-2637. doi: 10.1890/03-0799.
- Grime, J. P. (1998). Benefits of plant diversity to ecosystems: immediate, filter and founder effects. *Journal of Ecology*, 86 (6): 902-910. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2745.1998.00306.x.
- Grime, J. P., Fridley, J. D., Askew, A. P., Thompson, K., Hodgson, J. G. & Bennett, C. R. (2008). Long-term resistance to simulated climate change in an infertile grassland. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105 (29): 10028-10032. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0711567105.
- Hågvar, S. & Klanderud, K. (2009). Effect of simulated environmental change on alpine soil arthropods. *Global Change Biology*, 15 (12): 2972-2980.
- Hallingbäck, T., Lönnell, N., Weibull, H., Hedenäs, L. & Von Knorring, P. (2006). Nationalnyckeln till Sveriges flora och fauna. Bladmossor: Sköldmossor–blåmossor. Bryophyta: Buxbaumia– Leucobryum. ArtDatabanken, SLU, Uppsala.
- Hallingbäck, T. (2008). Nationalnyckeln till Sveriges flora och fauna. AJ 24-36: Bladmossor. Kompaktmossor-Kapmossor: Bryophyta: Anoectangium-Orthodontium; denna volym omfattar samtliga nordiska arter: ArtDatabanken.
- Henriques, D. S., Rigal, F., Borges, P. A., Ah-Peng, C. & Gabriel, R. (2017). Functional diversity and composition of bryophyte water-related traits in Azorean native vegetation. *Plant Ecology & Diversity*, 10 (2-3): 127-137.
- Hill, M. O., Preston, C., Bosanquet, S. & Roy, D. (2007). *BRYOATT: attributes of British and Irish mosses, liverworts and hornworts*: Centre for Ecology and Hydrology.
- Hoy, T. (2016). 09.05.2019. Scottish Rock Garden Club Forum: Trond Hoy.
- Hu, F. S., Lee, B. Y., Kaufman, D. S., Yoneji, S., Nelson, D. M. & Henne, P. D. (2002). Response of tundra ecosystem in southwestern Alaska to Younger-Dryas climatic oscillation. *Global Change Biology*, 8 (11): 1156-1163. doi: doi:10.1046/j.1365-2486.2002.00550.x.
- Huber, E., Wanek, W., Gottfried, M., Pauli, H., Schweiger, P., Arndt, S. K., Reiter, K. & Richter, A. (2007).
  Shift in soil–plant nitrogen dynamics of an alpine–nival ecotone. *Plant and Soil*, 301 (1): 65-76.
  doi: 10.1007/s11104-007-9422-2.
- Hudson, J. M. & Henry, G. H. (2010). High Arctic plant community resists 15 years of experimental warming. *Journal of Ecology*, 98 (5): 1035-1041.
- Jägerbrand, A. K., Molau, U. & Alatalo, J. M. (2003). Responses of bryophytes to simulated environmental change at Latnjajaure, northern Sweden. *Journal of Bryology*, 25 (3): 163-168. doi: 10.1179/037366803235001634.
- Kazakou, E., Violle, C., Roumet, C., Navas, M. L., Vile, D., Kattge, J. & Garnier, E. (2014). Are trait-based species rankings consistent across data sets and spatial scales? *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 25 (1): 235-247.
- Keddy, P. A. (1992). Assembly and response rules: two goals for predictive community ecology. Assembly and response rules: two goals for predictive community ecology. Knivsta (Sweden): Knivsta (Sweden): Opulus Press.

- Kichenin, E., Wardle, D. A., Peltzer, D. A., Morse, C. W. & Freschet, G. T. (2013). Contrasting effects of plant inter-and intraspecific variation on community-level trait measures along an environmental gradient. *Functional Ecology*, 27 (5): 1254-1261.
- Klanderud, K. & Birks, H. J. B. (2003). Recent increases in species richness and shifts in altitudinal distributions of Norwegian mountain plants. *The Holocene*, 13 (1): 1-6.
- Klanderud, K. & Totland, Ø. (2005). Simulated climate change altered dominance hierarchies and diversity of an alpine biodiversity hotspot. *Ecological society of america*, 86 (8).
- Körner, C. (2003). Alpine plant life: functional plant ecology of high mountain ecosystems; with 47 tables: Springer Science & Business Media.
- Lamb, E. G., Han, S., Lanoil, B. D., Henry, G. H. R., Brummell, M. E., Banerjee, S. & Siciliano, S. D. (2011). A High Arctic soil ecosystem resists long-term environmental manipulations. *Global Change Biology*, 17 (10): 3187-3194. doi: doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02431.x.
- Lang, S. I., Cornelissen, J. H. C., Shaver, G. R., Ahrens, M., Callaghan, T. V., Molau, U., Ter Braak, C. J. F., Hölzer, A. & Aerts, R. (2012). Arctic warming on two continents has consistent negative effects on lichen diversity and mixed effects on bryophyte diversity. *Global Change Biology*, 18 (3): 1096-1107. doi: doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02570.x.
- Lavorel, S. (2013). Plant functional effects on ecosystem services. *Journal of Ecology*, 101 (1): 4-8. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.12031.
- Lepš, J., de Bello, F., Šmilauer, P. & Doležal, J. (2011). Community trait response to environment: disentangling species turnover vs intraspecific trait variability effects. *Ecography*, 34 (5): 856-863. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0587.2010.06904.x.
- Longton, R. E. (1988). Biology of polar bryophytes and lichens: CUP Archive.
- Mägdefrau, K. (1982). Life-forms of bryophytes. In Bryophyte ecology, pp. 45-58: Springer.
- Marion, G., Henry, G., Freckman, D., Johnstone, J., Jones, G., Jones, M., Levesque, E., Molau, U., Mølgaard, P. & Parsons, A. (1997). Open-top designs for manipulating field temperature in highlatitude ecosystems. *Global Change Biology*, 3 (S1): 20-32.
- McGill, B. J., Enquist, B. J., Weiher, E. & Westoby, M. (2006). Rebuilding community ecology from functional traits. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 21 (4): 178-185. doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.02.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.02.002</a>.
- Mcletchie, D. N. & Stark, L. R. (2006). Sporophyte and Gametophyte Generations Differ in their Thermotolerance Response in the Moss Microbryum. *Annals of Botany*, 97 (4): 505-511. doi: 10.1093/aob/mcl011.
- Michel, P., Lee, W. G., During, H. J. & Cornelissen, J. H. C. (2012). Species traits and their non-additive interactions control the water economy of bryophyte cushions. *Journal of Ecology*, 100 (1): 222-231.
- Miljødirektoratet. (2005). *Finse: Sandalsnuten*. Naturbase. Available at: http://faktaark.naturbase.no/naturtype?id=BN00000956 (accessed: 23.4).
- Miljødirektoratet. (2006). *Hallingskarvet*. Naturbase: Miljødirektoratet. Available at: <u>http://faktaark.naturbase.no/Vern?id=VV00002450</u> (accessed: 23.4).

- Nakatsubo, T. (2002). Predicting the impact of climatic warming on the carbon balance of the moss Sanionia uncinata on a maritime Antarctic island. *Journal of Plant Research*, 115 (2): 0099-0106. doi: 10.1007/s102650200014.
- Pérez-Harguindeguy, N., Diaz, S., Gamier, E., Lavorel, S., Poorter, H., Jaureguiberry, P., Bret-Harte, M., Comwell, W., Craine, J. & Gurvich, D. (2013). New handbook for stand-ardised measurement of plant functional traits worldwide. Aus-tralian Journal of Botany 61: 167-234.
- Press, M. C., Callaghan, T. V. & Lee, J. A. (1998). How will European arctic ecosystems respond to projected global environmental change? *Ambio*: 306-311.
- Proctor, M. C. F. (1982). Physiological ecology: water relations, light and temperature responses, carbon balance. In *Bryophyte ecology*, pp. 333-381: Springer.
- Proctor, M. C. F., Oliver, M. J., Wood, A. J., Alpert, P., Stark, L. R., Cleavitt, N. L. & Mishler, B. D. (2007). *Desiccation-tolerance in bryophytes: a review*, vol. 110: BIOONE.
- Read, Q. D., Moorhead, L. C., Swenson, N. G., Bailey, J. K. & Sanders, N. J. (2014). Convergent effects of elevation on functional leaf traits within and among species. *Functional Ecology*, 28 (1): 37-45. doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.12162.
- Roos, R. E., Zuijlen, K. v., Birkemoe, T., Klanderud, K., Lang, S. I., Bokhorst, S., Wardle, D. A. & Asplund, J. (*In review*). Contrasting drivers of community-level trait variation for vascular plants, lichens, and bryophytes across an elevational gradient Unpublished manuscript.
- Rueden, C. T., Schindelin, J. & Hiner, M. C. (2017). ImageJ2: ImageJ for the next generation of scientific image data. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 18 (529). doi: 10.1186/s12859-017-1934-z.
- Russell, S. (2008). Bryophyte production and decomposition in tundra ecosystems. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*, 104 (1-3): 3-22. doi: 10.1111/j.1095-8339.1990.tb02208.x.
- Sala, O. E., Chapin, F. S., Juan, J. A., Berow, E., Bloomfeld, J., Dirzo, R., Huber-Sanwald, E., Huenneke, L. F., Jackson, R. B., Kinzig, A., et al. (2000). Global Biodiversity Scenarios for the Year 2100. Science, 287.
- Sandvik, S. M. & Heegaard, E. (2003). Effects of Simulated Environmental Changes on Growth and Growth Form in a Late Snowbed Population of Pohlia wahlenbergii (Web. et Mohr) Andr. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research, 35 (3): 341-348. doi: 10.1657/1523-0430(2003)035[0341:EOSECO]2.0.CO;2.
- Siefert, A., Violle, C., Chalmandrier, L., Albert, C. H., Taudiere, A., Fajardo, A., Aarssen, L. W., Baraloto, C., Carlucci, M. B. & Cianciaruso, M. V. (2015). A global meta-analysis of the relative extent of intraspecific trait variation in plant communities. *Ecology Letters*, 18 (12): 1406-1419.
- Smith, A. J. E. (1982). Bryophyte ecology: Chapman and Hall Ltd.
- Soininen, E. M., Zinger, L., Gielly, L., Bellemain, E., Bråthen, K. A., Brochmann, C., Epp, L. S., Gussarova, G., Hassel, K. & Henden, J.-A. (2013). Shedding new light on the diet of Norwegian lemmings: DNA metabarcoding of stomach content. *Polar Biology*, 36 (7): 1069-1076.
- Sundqvist, M. K., Giesler, R. & Wardle, D. A. (2011). Within- and Across-Species Responses of Plant Traits and Litter Decomposition to Elevation across Contrasting Vegetation Types in Subarctic Tundra. *PLOS ONE*, 6 (10): e27056. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027056.
- Sundqvist, M. K., Sanders, N. J. & Wardle, D. A. (2013). Community and Ecosystem Responses to Elevational Gradients: Processes, Mechanisms, and Insights for Global Change. *Annual Review of*

*Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 44 (1): 261-280. doi: 10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-110512-135750.

- Sundsbø, S. (2019). Long-term experimental warming in an alpine heath: Decrease in cover of the most abundant bryophytes: NMBU.
- Taudiere, A. & Violle, C. (2016). cati: an R package using functional traits to detect and quantify multilevel community assembly processes. *Ecography*, 39 (7): 699-708.
- Theurillat, J. P. & Guisan, A. (2001). Potential Impact of Climate Change on Vegetation in the European Alps: A Review. *Climatic Change*, 50 (1): 77-109. doi: 10.1023/a:1010632015572.
- Tuba, Z., Slack, N. G. & Stark, L. R. (2011). *Bryophyte ecology and climate change*: Cambridge University Press.
- Van Wijk, M. T., Clemmensen, K. E., Shaver, G. R., Williams, M., Callaghan, T. V., Chapin, F. S., Cornelissen, J. H. C., Gough, L., Hobbie, S. E. & Jonasson, S. (2004). Long-term ecosystem level experiments at Toolik Lake, Alaska, and at Abisko, Northern Sweden: generalizations and differences in ecosystem and plant type responses to global change. *Global Change Biology*, 10 (1): 105-123.
- Walker, D. A. (2000). Hierarchical subdivision of Arctic tundra based on vegetation response to climate, parent material and topography. *Global change biology*, 6 (S1): 19-34.
- Walker, D. A., Raynolds, M. K., Daniëls, F. J. A., Einarsson, E., Elvebakk, A., Gould, W. A., Katenin, A. E.,
  Kholod, S. S., Markon, C. J., Melnikov, E. S., et al. (2005). The Circumpolar Arctic vegetation map. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 16 (3): 267-282. doi: 10.1111/j.1654-1103.2005.tb02365.x.
- Walker, M. D., Wahren, C. H., Hollister, R. D., Henry, G. H., Ahlquist, L. E., Alatalo, J. M., Bret-Harte, M. S., Calef, M. P., Callaghan, T. V. & Carroll, A. B. (2006). Plant community responses to experimental warming across the tundra biome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103 (5): 1342-1346.
- Wegner, C., Wunderlich, M., Kessler, M. & Schawe, M. (2003). Foliar C:N Ratio of Ferns along an Andean Elevational Gradient. *Biotropica*, 35 (4): 486-490. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-7429.2003.tb00605.x.
- Wielgolaski, F. & Kjelvik S, K. (1975). *Fennoscandian Tundra Ecosystems Plants and Microorganisms* Ecological studies, vol. Part 1. Springer-Verlag.
- Wood, S. A., Karp, D. S., DeClerck, F., Kremen, C., Naeem, S. & Palm, C. A. (2015). Functional traits in agriculture: agrobiodiversity and ecosystem services. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 30 (9): 531-539. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2015.06.013</u>.
- Zuijlen, K. V. (2018a). Functional traits of lichens, bryophytes and vascular plants across elevation: species turnover vs intraspecific variation. OIKOS.

Zuijlen, K. V. (2018b). WHC bryophyte protocol.

## Appendix

 Table 4: List of all species present in the experiment. "Control" and "warmed" columns indicate the
 mean cover percentage of the listed species in its respective plot and standard error(SE).

Scientific name	Control (%)	Warmed (%)
Dicranum spp.	7.110±0.954	$1.890 \pm 0.411$
Hylocomium splendens	3.402±2.131	$0.100 \pm 0.059$
Racomitrium spp.	2.118±1.022	$0.110 \pm 0.045$
Ptilidium ciliare	1.204±0.255	0.262±0.063
Polytrichum spp.	0.926±0.166	0.251±0.052
Distichium capillaceum	0.631±0.163	0.457±0.161
Rhytidium rugosum	0.6±0.236	$0.024 \pm 0.008$
Sanionia uncinata	0.589±0.316	$0.093 \pm 0.030$
Brachythecium albicans	$0.440 \pm 0.149$	$0.063 \pm 0.012$
Hypnum spp.	$0.432 \pm 0.106$	$0.446 \pm 0.160$
Isopterygiopsis pulchella	$0.407 \pm 0.204$	$0.162 \pm 0.045$
Bryum spp.	$0.197 \pm 0.058$	$0.214 \pm 0.059$
Pohlia spp.	$0.130 \pm 0.028$	$0.251 \pm 0.086$
Syntricia spp.	$0.050 \pm 0.028$	$0.004 \pm 0.002$
Myurella sp.	$0.047 \pm 0.023$	$0.019 \pm 0.001$
Ditrichum flexicaule	$0.035 \pm 0.014$	0.031±0.019
Dicranella spp.	$0.029 \pm 0.020$	$0.060 \pm 0.035$
Tortella tortuosa	$0.007 \pm 0.003$	$0.097 \pm 0.039$
Fissidens sp.	$0.001 \pm 0.001$	$0.003 \pm 0.001$
Meesia uliginosa	$0.001 \pm 0.001$	$0.003 \pm 0.001$
Blindia acuta	-	$0.007 \pm 0.003$
Campyliadelphus	-	$0.0403 \pm 0.02$
chrysophyllus		
Grimmia sp.	-	0.003±0.002
Saelania glaucescens	-	$0.001 \pm 0.001$



Norges miljø- og biovitenskapelige universitet Noregs miljø- og biovitskapelege universitet Norwegian University of Life Sciences Postboks 5003 NO-1432 Ås Norway